**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**IOWA SUPREME COURT No. 22-0403**

---

**ALYSSA PRATT  
Plaintiff-Appellant**

**vs.**

**ADAM SMITH, M.D., ADAM SMITH, M.D., P.C., TRI-STATE  
SPECIALISTS, L.L.P.,  
Defendants-Appellees**

---

**APPEAL FROM FEBRUARY 4, 2022 ORDER OF THE IOWA DISTRICT  
COURT FOR WOODBURY COUNTY,  
THE HONORABLE ROGER L. SAILER  
No. LACV187747**

---

**PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

Jon Specht            AT0012576  
TRIAL LAWYERS FOR JUSTICE  
421 W. Water St., Third Floor  
Decorah, IA 52101  
Phone: (563) 382-5071  
Fax: (888) 801-3616  
Email: [jon@tl4j.com](mailto:jon@tl4j.com)

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

I. Whether the District Court erred in determining that Iowa Code section 147.140 applied to Ms. Pratt's negligent hiring, retention, and supervision claim against Tri-State Specialists, LLP.

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This appeal involves the application of well-established legal principals. Transfer to The Court of Appeals would seem appropriate. *See*, Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is an appeal from an Order granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary judgment on the issue of negligent retention by the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County in the matter of case number LACV187747, *Pratt v. Adam Smith, M.D., et al.* The case involves claims for injuries by Plaintiff Alyssa Pratt arising out of a breast reduction surgery performed on September 20, 2017 and related care by Defendant Adam Smith, M.D. The Petition in this matter was filed on August 7, 2019. In addition to claims for medical negligence by Defendant Adam Smith, M.D., Plaintiff's Petition also alleged claims for negligent retention of Dr. Smith by corporate defendants Adam Smith, M.D., P.C. and Tri-State Specialists, L.L.P.

On February 24, 2020, Plaintiff filed the Certificate of Merit Affidavit of Dr. Richard Marfuggi, certifying that Dr. Smith's medical care and treatment of Ms. Pratt did not meet the standard of care for a plastic surgeon. This Certificate of Merit did not address Plaintiff's negligent retention claims, and Plaintiff did not file a separate Certificate of Merit specifically addressing the negligent retention

claim.

On December 16, 2021, Defendants filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Alternative Motion to Bifurcate, asking that the Court dismiss Plaintiff's claims against Defendants Adam Smith, M.D., P.C. ("Smith P.C.") and Tri-State Specialists, LLP ("Tri-State") for failing to exercise reasonable care in the hiring, retention, and supervision of Dr. Smith ("negligent retention claim"). After being granted an enlargement of time to file a Resistance, on January 7, 2022, Plaintiff filed a Resistance and supporting documentation to Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

On February 4, 2022, a Hearing was held on Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment before the Honorable Roger L. Sailer. On February 4, 2022, the Court issued a ruling granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Alyssa Pratt underwent a breast reconstruction surgery performed by Defendant Adam B. Smith, M.D. on September 20, 2017. Ms. Pratt received follow-up treatment, including a second surgery, from Defendant Dr. Smith until June, 2019.

Prior to moving his plastic surgery practice to Sioux City, Iowa, Defendant Dr. Smith practiced plastic surgery in Traverse City, Michigan from 2011.

Complaint of the United States, United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D., and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC, Defendants (18-cv1445), App. 100. While practicing in Michigan, Dr. Smith “knowingly defrauded Medicare and Medicaid by submitting false claims for reimbursements for plastic surgery procedures that were cosmetic and not medically necessary” and “knowingly made false statements regarding the nature of the services [he] provided and [his] patients’ conditions in order to obtain reimbursement from these programs.” Final Order for Default Judgment, *United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D. and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC* (18-cv1445), App 121.

On July 31, 2017, Matthew H. Steele, M.D., formerly a physician with Tri-State Specialists, L.L.P., sent a letter to Tri-State Specialists that stated, “But what disgusts me . . . is your decision to exercise the 90-day option after I brought forth evidence of Dr. Smith’s rampant malpractice and widespread insurance fraud.” Dr. Steele Letter, App 141. Dr. Steele further stated in this letter that he informed Tri-State Specialists between 3/1/17 and 4/7/17, among many other things, that “Dr. Smith was under investigation by the Department of Justice for alleged Medicare fraud committed during his tenure in Traverse City, MI.” Dr. Steele Letter, App 143.

In its Sentencing Memorandum in the matter of United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D., the United States stated as follows: “But this investigation

is not about Smith being unjustly reimbursed for one procedure. It is about ending the pervasive harm caused by a person who, from the outset of his surgical career, has exhibited a multi-state pattern of incompetence, opportunistic decision-making, and fraud. As a result of those actions, he has left a wake of professional misconduct complaints, lawsuits, and a debt to government programs that fund medically necessary treatments for the elderly and impoverished.” Government’s Sentencing Memorandum, *United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D.* (19-cr-259), App 123.

On November 19, 2020, the Iowa Board of Medicine filed an Amended Statement of Charges against Dr. Smith. These charges included the following: (1) Professional Incompetency; (2) Practice Harmful or Detrimental to the Public; (3) Unethical or Unprofessional Conduct; (4) Inappropriate Prescribing; (5) Improper Management of Medical Records; (6) Knowingly Making Misleading, Deceptive, Untrue, or Fraudulent Representations in the Practice of Medicine and Surgery; and (7) Having a License to Practice Medicine and Surgery Suspended in the Licensing Authority of Another State. Amended Statement of Charges, In The Matter of the Statement of Charges Against Adam B. Smith, M.D., Respondent, Before the Iowa Board of Medicine, App 133.

On February 18, 2021, as part of a Settlement Agreement with the Iowa Board of Medicine, Dr. Smith voluntarily surrendered his Iowa medical license.



Settlement Agreement in the Matter of the Statement of Charges Against Adam B. Smith, M.D., Respondent, Before the Iowa Board of Medicine, App 129. On September 10, 2021, Defendant Adam B. Smith, M.D. plead guilty to False Statements Relating to a Health Care Matter. Judgment, *United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D.* (19-cr-259). On November 29, 2021, a Default Judgment was entered against Defendant Dr. Smith in the matter of United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D., and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC, Defendants. Final Order of Default Judgment, *United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D., and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC, Defendants* (18-cv-1445)), App 121.

Plaintiff's claims in this matter included claims against Defendant Tri-State Specialists for the negligent retention of Dr. Smith. Specifically, Plaintiff claimed that Tri-State Specialists negligently retained Dr. Smith after receiving the letter of Dr. Matthew Steele.

On December 16, 2021, Defendants Adam Smith, MD, Adam Smith, MD, PC, and Tri-State Specialists, LLP filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Alternative Motion to Bifurcate with regards to Plaintiff's negligent retention claims. One of the central contentions of this Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was that Plaintiff was required to file a Certificate of Merit Affidavit with regards to her negligent retention claim against Dr. Smith.

In the same time period, Defendants Adam Smith, MD, Adam Smith, MD,

PC, and Tri-State Specialists, LLP filed virtually identical motions for Partial Summary Judgment and Alternative Motions to Bifurcate in several other matters in which these parties are also defendants.

On February 2, 2022, the Honorable Jeffrey Poulson in the matter of *Charlene Jorgensen and Michael Jorgensen v. Adam B. Smith, MD, Adam Smith, MD, PC, and Tri-State Specialists, LLP*, Case No. LACV192198, in the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County, a case brought by separate plaintiffs represented by separate counsel against the same defendants as those in this matter, when faced with a virtually identical Motion for Partial Summary Judgment brought by Defendants Adam B. Smith, MD, Adam Smith, MD, PC, and Tri-State Specialists, LLP, issued a ruling denying the motion. *See*, Ruling on Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, *Jorgensen v. Adam B. Smith, MD, et al.*, (hereinafter "Jorgensen Ruling"), App 271.

### **ANALYSIS**

#### **I. The District Court Erred in Granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Plaintiff's Negligent Retention Claim**

Plaintiff does not dispute that no Certificate of Merit or expert report was filed in this matter on the specific issue of the Negligent Retention of Dr. Smith – because Plaintiff was not required to do so. Plaintiff's claim of Negligent Retention fell under the rubric of being within the realm of common knowledge and therefore the

District Court was incorrect in granting Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment with respect to this claim.

**A. Plaintiff Fulfilled the Elements of a Claim for Negligent Retention**

Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 730.5 (2020 Update) states as follows with regards to a claim for Negligent Hiring:

Plaintiff must prove all of the following propositions:

1. An [employment][agency] relationship exists between (employee) and the defendant employer.
2. The employer knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, of (employee's) [incompetence][unfitness][dangerous characteristics] at the time of hiring.
3. The (employee's) [incompetence][unfitness][dangerous characteristics] was a cause of damage to the Plaintiff.
4. The nature and extent of the damage.

*See*, Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 730.5. Furthermore, "In Godar, the Iowa Supreme Court held that a claim for negligent hiring likewise included an action for negligent retention and negligent supervision." *See*, Iowa Civil Jury Instruction 730.5 (Comment), citing *Godar v. Edwards*, 588 N.W.2d 701 (Iowa 1999).

By July 31, 2017 Defendant Tri-State Specialists, L.L.P. had been made aware by Dr. Matthew Steele of Dr. Smith's incompetence, unfitness, and dangerous characteristics – including, but not limited to, that he was under investigation by the Department of Justice for Medicare fraud. *See*, Dr. Steele

Letter, App 141. The care which plaintiff's expert witness Richard Marfuggi, M.D. testified fell below the standard of care took place in and after September of 2017. (With regard to Adam Smith, M.D., P.C., Defendant Adam Smith was the agent, corporate officer, and sole shareholder of Adam Smith, M.D., P.C. It can be presumed that Dr. Smith was aware of his own incompetence, unfitness, and dangerous characteristics and that this actual knowledge can be imputed to Adam Smith, M.D., P.C.).

By choosing to continue to maintain an employment and/or agency relationship with Dr. Smith after becoming aware, through Dr. Steele's letter in July, 2017, that Dr. Smith was incompetent, unfit and dangerous, Tri-State Specialists allowed Plaintiff Alyssa Pratt to come under Dr. Smith's medical care in September, 2017 and the period that followed.

**B. Dr. Smith Knowingly Defrauded Medicare Prior to his Relationship With Tri-State Specialists**

Prior to his relationship with Tri-States Specialists, Dr. Smith committed fraud at his prior practice in Michigan. This fact which was judicially established in the 11/29/2021 Final Order of Default by Hon. Janet T. Neff, District Judge for the United States District Court for the Western District of Michigan. *See*, Final Order of Default Judgment, *United States of America v. Adam B. Smith, M.D., and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC, Defendants* (18-cv-1445). In the Default

Judgment, the Court found in relevant part (emphasis added): “Adam Smith and Borealis Plastic Surgery failed to appear and to file an answer or responsive pleading in this action as required by the Court’s September 20, 2021 Order.”

The United States obtained a default judgment against Dr. Smith. The well-pleaded facts alleged in the Complaint are deemed admitted based upon the Entry of Default. As detailed in the Complaint, ***Defendants Adam B. Smith and Borealis Plastic Surgery, PLLC knowingly defrauded Medicare and Medicaid*** by submitting false claims for reimbursements for plastic surgery procedures that were cosmetic and not medically necessary, and the Defendants knowingly made false statements regarding the nature of the services they provided and their patients’ conditions in order to obtain reimbursement from these programs. This conduct violated the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A) and (B), and the United States’ damages must be trebled and statutory penalties awarded, 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a).” *See* Default Judgment pp. 1-2 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added), App 121.

Therefore, there is no disputing that: (a) Dr. Smith committed fraud prior to starting his relationship with Tri-State Specialists; (b) by the summer 2017, Tri-State Specialists was aware that Dr. Smith was under investigation for fraud; and (c) Plaintiff’s care and treatment in the fall of 2017 and after by Dr. Smith took place after Tri-State Specialists was aware that Dr. Smith was under

investigation for fraud.

### **C. Plaintiff-Appellant's Negligent Retention Claim is Within the Realm of Lay Knowledge**

Under Iowa law, when a particular matter is a technical issue that goes beyond common knowledge and experience, then expert testimony is necessary to generate a jury issue. *See, Diemer v. Hansen* 545 N.W.2d 573 (1996). However, if a matter is within the common knowledge and experience of a layperson, no expert testimony is required. Iowa courts have found a number of topics within the realm of common experience for which no expert testimony is required. In *Welte v. Bello*, the Iowa Supreme Court held that it was within the common experience of a juror to know that properly inserted needles should not cause chemical burns. *See, Welte v. Bello*, 482 N.W.2d 437 (Iowa 1992). As the Court stated, “The chemical burn to Welte’s arm was caused by sodium pentothal that Dr. Bello injected into her vein which then infiltrated or escaped from the vein into the surrounding tissues. We believe it is within the common experience of laypersons that such an occurrence in the ordinary course of things would not have happened if reasonable care had been used. The insertion of a needle into a vein is a common medical procedure that laypersons understand. It is a procedure that has become so common that laypersons know certain occurrence would not take place if ordinary care is used.” *Id.* at 441. The issue here – should an employee known to be under federal criminal investigation for a Class C Felony continue to be employed in a patient-

facing role – is well within the realm of the ordinary knowledge of a lay person.

This is not an issue that requires medical expert knowledge or testimony. Any Iowa juror is qualified to evaluate this matter without hearing from an expert witness. This is a far less technical question than that which was faced by the jury in *Welte v. Bello*. As the Iowa Supreme Court stated in *Thompson v. Embassy Rehabilitation & Care Center*, 604 N.W.2d 643 (Iowa 2000), “[I]f all the primary facts can be accurately and intelligibly described to the jury, and if they, as [persons] of common understanding, are as capable of comprehending the primary facts and of drawing correct conclusions from them as are witnesses possessed of special or peculiar training, experience, or observation in respect of the subject under investigation, expert testimony is not required.” This is just such a situation which can be evaluated by a person of common understanding.

Plaintiff-Appellant respectfully submits that the reasoning of Judge Poulson in denying a virtually identical Motion for Partial Summary Judgment from these Defendants in the matter of *Jorgensen v. Adam Smith, M.D., et al.*, in the Iowa District Court for Woodbury County, LACV192198 was correct.

As Judge Poulson noted in his ruling on the Jorgensen matter, “Not every cause of action against a health care provider is subject to the certificate of merit affidavit requirement. By its terms, the statute applies only to “the alleged negligence in the practice of that profession or occupation or in patient care, which

includes a cause of action for which expert testimony is necessary to establish a prima facie case.” Jorgensen Ruling, App 274. As Judge Poulson further noted, “Iowa cases have recognized a distinction between cases involving routine care and professional care. If routine care is involved, no expert witness is required, whereas professional care does inherently require expert testimony.” Jorgensen Ruling, App 275, citing *Landes v. Women’s Christian Ass’n*, 504 N.W.2d 139 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993), *Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hosp.*, 193 N.W.2d 98, 101-102 (Iowa 1971), and *Hall v. Jennie Edmundson Memorial Hospital*, 812 N.W.2d 681(Iowa 2012).

In *Landes*, the Iowa Court of Appeals held that the Plaintiff was not required to introduce expert testimony regarding a claim for injuries Plaintiff sustained at a hospital while being taken to the bathroom, finding that the hospital’s activity with regards to this patient at the time of the injury involved “nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care.” *Landes* at 140. As the Iowa Supreme Court held in *Kastler*, “The proper standard of care for nonmedical, administrative, ministerial, or routine care by hospitals is such reasonable care as the patient’s known mental or physical condition may require.” *Kastler* at 102. In such situations, “Expert testimony is not required to prove this standard of care.” *Id.*

Alternatively, as Judge Poulson also noted in the *Jorgensen* ruling, Iowa law also recognizes a “common knowledge” exception to the requirement for expert



testimony to establish the standard of care and breach in a medical malpractice case. In cases where the “lack of care is so obvious to be within the comprehension of a lay[person] and requires only common knowledge and experience to understand,” no expert testimony is required.” *Oswald v. LeGrand*, 453 N.W.2d 634 (Iowa 1990). As Judge Poulson held in the alternative in the *Jorgensen* ruling, the potential negligence of Defendants in retaining Dr. Smith was a matter where the lack of care was so obvious as to be within the comprehension of a lay juror. Therefore, no expert testimony or Certificate of Merit was required to establish a prima facie claim for the negligent retention of Dr. Smith. The Plaintiff-Appellant in this matter respectfully submits that the reasoning of Judge Poulson in the *Jorgensen* matter was correct and should have been adopted by the District Court with regards to this matter. As such, the Court erred in granting Partial Summary Judgment for defendants.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the above reasons, Plaintiff prays that the Court determine that the district court erred in granting Defendants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, that the Court order that Plaintiff’s claims for negligent retention be re-instated, and that the Court remand the Plaintiff’s negligent retention claim to the district court so that litigation of this claim may resume.

## REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

We request to be allowed 10 minutes for oral argument.