IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

No. 22-0403

---

**ALYSSA PRATT**  
**Plaintiff-Appellant**

vs.

**ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., ADAM B. SMITH, M.D., P.C. and TRI-STATE  
SPECIALISTS, LLP**  
**Defendants-Appellees.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY DISTRICT COURT CASE  
NO. LACV187747**

**THE HONORABLE ROGER L. SAILER**  
**PRESIDING JUDGE**

---

**DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF**

---

**JEFF W. WRIGHT, AT0008716**  
**ZACK A. MARTIN, AT0014476**  
**1128 Historic 4<sup>th</sup> Street**  
**P.O. Box 3086**  
**Sioux City, Iowa 51102**  
**Phone: (712) 255-8838**  
**Fax: (712) 258-6714**  
**Jeff.Wright@heidmanlaw.com**  
**Zack.Martin@heidmanlaw.com**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The District Court Correctly Held That Expert Testimony is Needed to Establish Plaintiff’s Negligent Retention of Professional Staff Claims.**

#### **A. The only relevant facts are those which Defendants knew or should have known at the time Dr. Smith treated Plaintiff.**

Plaintiff spills considerable ink detailing allegations of improper billing practices and other misconduct leveled against Dr. Smith in 2020 and 2021. *See id.* The allegations of improper Medicare/Medicaid billing practices in Michigan were charged in late 2019, after Plaintiff received the care at issue and after Dr. Smith left Tri-State. *See id.* at 9. The Iowa Board of Medicine made allegations against Dr. Smith in November 2020. *Id.* at 8. A civil judgment related to the Medicare/Medicaid billing practices was entered in late 2021. Pl.’s Br. at 9, 12.

To recover on a negligent retention claim, a plaintiff must show that the employer knew or should have known of the unfitness “at the time the employee engaged in wrongful or tortious conduct.” *Est. of Harris v. Papa John’s Pizza*, 679 N.W.2d 673, 680 (Iowa 2004). “[T]he ‘knowledge’ element [] concern[s] what the

---

For reasons set forth in further detail below, these facts are irrelevant to Plaintiffs’ negligent supervision claims. *See Godar v. Edwards*, 588 N.W.2d 701, 708–09 (Iowa 1999) (to recover on a negligent retention claim, the plaintiff must show the employer knew or should have known of the employee’s unfitness at the time of the alleged wrong).

employer knew at the time of the alleged wrongful conduct by the employee.” *Shearer v. Hirschbach Motor Lines, Inc.*, 2022 WL 2317443, at \*20 (N.D. Iowa 2022). The “core predicate” for imposing liability for negligent retention is the foreseeability of the harm based on what the employer knew or should have known about the allegedly unfit employee. *See Bandstra v. Covenant Reformed Church*, 913 N.W.2d 19, 40–41 (Iowa 2018) (citing *Thompson v. Kaczinski*, 774 N.W.2d 829, 834 (Iowa 2009)).

Consistent with the relevant standard, the knowledge of Smith P.C. and Tri-State is determined by what was known at the time Plaintiff alleges Dr. Smith’s treatment fell below the standard of care. *Harris*, 679 N.W.2d at 680. Plaintiff’s reliance on allegations against Dr. Smith *after* his care of Plaintiff had concluded is misplaced. Defendant acknowledges that it was made aware of the existence of these allegations by way of Dr. Steele’s July 31, 2017 letter. *See* Pl.’s Br. at 9. However, those allegations and anything Defendants should have otherwise known at the time of Plaintiff’s care serves as the entire factual basis upon which Plaintiff can rely in support of her position that Dr. Smith was negligently retained. *Harris*, 679 N.W.2d at 680.

**B. Based on the relevant facts, expert testimony is required to prove Plaintiff’s negligent retention of professional staff claims.**

**i. Plaintiff's negligent retention of professional staff claims are not within the realm of lay knowledge.**

When considering only the facts that were known or should have been known to Smith P.C. and Tri-State at the time Dr. Smith provided care to Plaintiff, Plaintiff's negligent retention claims are not within the realm of lay knowledge. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3. Expert testimony is required in claims against health care providers where an issue is "beyond the common knowledge of laypersons and requires expert evidence." *Kennis v. Mercy Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 491 N.W.2d 161, 166 (Iowa 1992). "The test for determining if expert testimony is required is whether, when the primary facts are accurately and intelligently described, the jurors are as capable of comprehending the primary facts and drawing correct conclusions from them as an expert." *Schmitt v. Floyd Valley Healthcare*, 2021 WL 3077022, at \*1 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021) (citing *Thompson v. Embassy Rehab. & Care Ctr.*, 604 N.W.2d 643, 646 (Iowa 2000)).

Consistent with these principles, this Court recently held in *Struck* that the district court properly dismissed claims alleging negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of professional staff because the plaintiff failed to offer the required expert testimony. *Id.* at 539, 544. The Court noted that its determination that expert testimony is required for such claims aligns Iowa with other states which have similarly held expert testimony is required for such claims; triggering additional filing requirements akin to a certificate of merit affidavit. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at



544 (citing *Palms W. Hosp. Ltd. P'ship v. Burns*, 83 So. 3d 785, 788 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011); *Ray v. Scot. Rite Children's Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 555 S.E.2d 166, 168–69 (Ga. App. 2001)) (“[o]ther courts have held pre-suit requirements and limitations including a certificate of merit apply to the patient’s negligent retention claims against the hospital”).

Notably, the *Burns* and *Ray* cases cited approvingly by this Court provide that expert testimony is needed specifically on the issue of a health care provider’s negligence in retaining professional staff. *See id.* When a health care provider exercises its duty “to select and review health care personnel,” a professional or modified standard of care applies. *See Burns*, 83 So. 3d at 788–89. An expert opinion regarding deficiency in the treatment provided, though sufficient for purposes of vicarious liability, does not satisfy the requirement of expert testimony for a direct negligence claim arising out of retention of professional staff. *See id.*

Recently, the Iowa Court of Appeals, relying on *Struck*, affirmed a district court’s dismissal of another plaintiff’s negligent supervision of professional staff claims against a health care provider. *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3. *Wolfe* observed the multitude of concepts which a factfinder would need to be knowledgeable of to adjudicate a negligent supervision claim in this context, including, but not limited to:

- the medical industry’s standards for supervision of a medical professional treating a patient with plaintiff’s condition;

- what is and is not acceptable in the supervision of said medical professional;
- an understanding of the patient’s condition and why particular actions are taken or not taken;
- an understanding of how actions and procedures, whether taken or not taken, affect the patient’s condition;
- whether permitting or prohibiting those actions in their supervision constitutes negligence;
- whether defendant’s adherence or deviation from this standard constitutes negligence;
- sufficient comprehension of the situation to determine if and how the alleged negligent supervision did or did not cause or contributorily cause the injury.

*Id.* at \*2. These concepts are not within the ordinary knowledge of laypersons and instead require expert testimony. *Id.* at \*2–3.

The result reached in *Struck* and *Wolfe* is consistent with this Court’s approach regarding the analogous claim of negligent credentialing against a hospital, as well. *See Rieder v. Segal*, 959 N.W.2d 423, 431 (Iowa 2021) (quoting *Brookins v. Mote*, 292 P.3d 347, 364 (Mont. 2012) (“[t]he plaintiff in a negligent credentialing claim must present expert testimony establishing that the defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care to raise a genuine issue of material fact”) (emphasis added)). This result is also consistent with that of numerous other courts which have found expert testimony necessary to establish the standard of care and breach thereof

as to the employment of medical professionals.<sup>3</sup>

The result reached by the district court, concluding that Plaintiff's claims are not within the realm of lay knowledge, is consistent with the aforementioned precedent. The determination of whether Smith P.C. and Tri-State should have terminated Dr. Smith, based on what it knew as of September 20, 2017 or June 20, 2019, is "beyond the common knowledge of laypersons and requires expert evidence." *Kennis*, 491 N.W.2d at 166. Whether the allegations of malpractice and improper billing practices which were known or should have been known at the time of treatment were of the quantity and quality that Dr. Smith should have been terminated requires professional judgment. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*2–3; *Burns*, 83 So. 3d at 788–89.

An exception to the requirement for expert testimony for claims against health

---

<sup>3</sup> *See Mass v. Bartholomew*, 28 So. 3d 520, 522 (La. Ct. App. 2009) (holding plaintiff's claim that a hospital was negligent in training or supervising its employees in dealing with back surgery patients required expert testimony to establish the hospital's standard of care and breach); *MacPete v. Bolomey*, 185 S.W.3d 580, 586 (Tex. App. 2006) (holding claim against psychiatric practice group for negligent training and supervision of psychiatrist required expert testimony to establish the appropriate standard of care); *Dine v. Williams*, 830 S.W.2d 453, 456 (Mo. Ct. App. 1992) (noting the duty of an attending physician to supervise a resident is "a technical subject outside the common knowledge and experience of a jury" which requires expert testimony because the "amount of attention needed depends on the custom or practice of ordinarily diligent and careful physicians acting under the same or similar circumstances."); *Wright v. Univ. Hosp. of Cleveland*, 563 N.E.2d 361, 366 (Ohio Ct. App. 1989) (holding negligent supervision claim against attending physician required expert testimony to establish the standard of care and breach of that standard).

care providers applies where the “lack of care is so obvious as to be within the comprehension of a layperson.” *Oswald v. LeGrand*, 453 N.W.2d 634, 636 (Iowa 1990). Such cases involve “non-medical judgment.” *See Zaw v. Birusingh*, 974 N.W.2d 140, 164 (Iowa Ct. App. 2021). In contrast, the concepts of which a factfinder would have to be knowledgeable of for a negligent supervision claim is extensive. *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*2.

Medical professionals are often accused of improper coding on a bill or negligence in treating a patient. Is one allegation of improper billing or malpractice enough to warrant termination? Five? Ten? Twenty? Making this determination requires the understanding and application of concepts not within the knowledge of laypersons, such that expert testimony is required. *See id.*

Expert testimony is also required to demonstrate the merits of the prior malpractice claims and any connection between those claims and Dr. Smith’s ability to competently treat Plaintiff. *See Kennis*, 491 N.W.2d at 166; *Rieder*, 959 N.W.2d at 430. Allegations related to billing practices would similarly require expert testimony to support a connection between those allegations and the claim that Tri-State breached the standard of care by failing to terminate Dr. Smith. The correlation, if any, between the allegations related to billing and Dr. Smith’s competence to provide Ms. Jorgensen treatment is beyond the common knowledge of laypersons and would require expert testimony. *See Kennis*, 491 N.W.2d at 166. Hence, *Struck*

and *Wolfe* correctly held that expert testimony is needed to support this type of claim. See *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*2–3.

**ii. Plaintiff’s negligent retention of professional staff claims do not arise out of a nonmedical, administrative, or ministerial act.**

Plaintiff’s alternative position that her negligent retention claims arise out of a nonmedical, administrative, or ministerial act is inconsistent with Iowa precedent defining nonmedical or routine care. See *Thompson*, 604 N.W.2d at 645–46; *Kastler v. Iowa Methodist Hosp.*, 193 N.W.2d 98, 102 (Iowa 1971); *Landes v. Women’s Christian Ass’n*, 504 N.W.2d 139, 141–42 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993).

The nonmedical or routine exception to the requirement for expert testimony is narrowly construed. See *Thompson*, 604 N.W.2d at 645–46. *Thompson* held that expert testimony was required for a plaintiff’s claim that a care facility was negligent for failing to reposition his body so as to relieve pressure from bedsores. *Id.* at 646. Despite “[s]uch acts on the surface appear[ing] to have been ministerial,” the Court nevertheless held that the issue of whether forced repositioning was proper required expert testimony. *Id.* The cases recognizing the exception were slip and fall cases where expert testimony was not needed because the defendant health care provider was not engaged in professional activities. See *Kastler*, 193 N.W.2d at 102; *Landes*, 504 N.W.2d at 141–42.

The decision to retain Dr. Smith involved far greater professional judgment than a decision related to repositioning a patient in bed. *Compare Thompson* , 604 N.W.2d at 645–46 *with Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*2. Consistent with the specialized fact finding necessary to support claims of negligent retention of professional staff against health care providers, *Struck* and *Wolfe* found that expert testimony was required. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*2–3. The district court’s Ruling is consistent with this finding and Plaintiff’s contrary interpretation of this exception should be rejected.

**iii. Expert witness testimony is needed on the issues of standard of care and causation/scope of liability.**

As set forth above, expert witness testimony is required for Plaintiff to show Smith P.C. and Tri-State breached the standard of care by retaining Dr. Smith. The decisions of health care providers regarding the retention medical professionals is not within the realm of lay knowledge. *See Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 544; *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449, at \*3. Retaining such professionals is similarly not within the standard of nonmedical, routine, administrative, or ministerial acts set forth by this Court. *Compare id. with Kastler*, 193 N.W.2d at 102, *and Landes*, 504 N.W.2d at 141–42.

However, even if the allegations predating the care of September 20, 2017 and June 20, 2019 were sufficient to negate the need for expert testimony on the standard

of care and breach,<sup>4</sup> Plaintiff must still show that Dr. Smith’s “incompetence, unfitness, or dangerous characteristics proximately caused the resulting injuries.” *Godar*, 588 N.W.2d at 708. This includes both factual cause and scope of liability. *See Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 836–40; *Shearer*, 2022 WL 2317443, at \*20.

Plaintiff cannot show a causal connection between Dr. Steele’s allegations of negligence against Dr. Smith and Plaintiff’s own alleged injuries, without expert testimony. *See Kennis*, 491 N.W.2d at 166. Furthermore, Plaintiff’s claimed damages fall outside the scope of Smith P.C.’s and Tri-State’s liability related to Dr. Steele’s allegations with respect to billing practices. *See Godar*, 588 N.W.2d at 708–10; *Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 837–40. Therefore, Plaintiffs’ claims fail, even if the standard of care and breach could be established in the absence of expert testimony.

Those cases where the standard of care and breach need not be established by expert testimony because the breach was so obvious, expert testimony may still be necessary on the issue of factual causation. *See Bazel v. Mabee*, 576 N.W.2d 385, 387–88 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998); *Schmitt*, 2021 WL 3077022, at \*2. Lay jurors are not as capable as experts of determining “if and how the alleged negligent supervision did or did not cause or contributorily cause the injury.” *Wolfe*, 2022 WL 2160449,

---

<sup>4</sup> This presumption is obviously incorrect. Dr. Steele’s allegations would not be admissible at trial to prove Tri-State negligently retained Dr. Smith because the letter meets the definition of “peer review records.” *See* Iowa Code § 147.135(2). Moreover, Dr. Steele’s letter and the allegations contained therein are hearsay for which no exception applies. *See* Iowa R. Evid. 5.801–5.804.

at \*2. Though the certificate of merit need not opine on the issue of causation, a certificate of merit is required when expert testimony will ultimately be needed on the issue of causation, as causation is a required element of a plaintiff's prima facie case against a health care provider. *Schmitt*, 2021 WL 3077022, at \*2; *Est. of Butterfield by Butterfield v. Chautauqua Guest Home, Inc.*, 2022 WL 3440703, at \*2–3 (Iowa Ct. App. 2022).

When a plaintiff asserting negligent retention presents insufficient evidence regarding the employee's alleged foreseeable incompetence being a proximate cause of their resulting injuries, the claim fails as a matter of law. *See, e.g., Godar*, 588 N.W.2d at 708–10; *Harris*, 679 N.W.2d at 680; *Bandstra*, 913 N.W.2d at 40–41; *Shearer*, 2022 WL 2317443, at \*20. To succeed on such a claim, a plaintiff must prove not only that the employer knew or should have known of the employee's unfitness at the time of retention, but also that the employee's incompetent characteristic "proximately caused the resulting injuries." *Id.* at 708. A finding of proximate cause requires a finding that the injuries suffered by plaintiff fall within the scope of the risk of the defendants' acts or omissions. *Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 840; *see also DeBower v. Spencer*, 2021 WL 4887976, at \*4 (N.D. Iowa 2021) (quoting *Bandstra*, 913 N.W.2d at 40) (discussing "post-*Thompson*" foreseeability standard with respect to negligent hiring and supervision claims).



The factual correlation between the prior allegations of malpractice and Plaintiff's claims against Smith P.C. and Tri-State cannot be established without expert testimony. Thus, a certificate of merit affidavit was required for the negligent retention claims. *Schmitt*, 2021 WL 3077022, at \*2; *Butterfield*, 2022 WL 3440703, at \*2–3. The damages alleged by Plaintiff also fall outside the scope of the risk of any negligent act or omission of Tri-State in failing to terminate Dr. Smith based on the billing allegations. *See Thompson*, 774 N.W.2d at 538.<sup>5</sup>

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